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DECISION


Arnold S. Barber, D.D.S., is subject to discipline for violating statutes and regulations regarding controlled substances as set forth in Count I.  Barber is not subject to discipline on Counts II, III, and IV.
Procedure


On January 10, 2007, the Missouri Dental Board (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Barber.  We opened the case and assigned Case No. 07-0052 DB.  On February 13, 2007, Barber filed an answer.  On October 1, 2007, Barber filed a complaint appealing the Board’s decisions denying his applications for renewal of a Parenteral Conscious Sedation Individual Permit and a Parenteral Conscious Sedation Site Certificate.  We opened the case and assigned Case No. 07-1636 DB.


On January 7, 2008, we held a hearing to hear evidence on both cases.  Nanci Wisdom represented the Board.  R. Pete Smith, with McDowell, Rice, Smith & Buchanan, PC, 
represented Barber.  The matter became ready for our decision on February 25, 2008, the date Barber filed a brief and the Board’s brief was due.

Findings of Fact

1. Barber is, and was at all relevant times, a licensed and certified dentist.  He is a general dentist rather than a specialist, and he has been licensed since 1965.
2. At all relevant times Barber possessed a valid registration issued by the Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) and the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (“the BNDD”).
3. Barber held two registrations with the BNDD.  Missouri Controlled Substances Registration number 27461 was for his practice location at ProDental, 215 East McPherson, Kirksville, Missouri, 63501 (“the Kirksville location”) until May 30, 2004.  Missouri Controlled Substances Registration number 10815 was for his practice location at ProDental, 800 Vandiver, Columbia, Missouri, 65202 (“the Columbia location”) until January 31, 2005.  Barber was the primary practitioner at both registered locations.
4. Barber sold his Columbia practice on March 27, 2007.  Barber no longer owns a facility or practices dentistry in Columbia.

Count I – Controlled Substances
5. On July 22, 2002, the BNDD conducted an inspection at the Kirksville location.  On or about August 13, 2002, the BNDD conducted an inspection at the Columbia location.
6. For 17 months after the audit was completed in August of 2002, there were dealings and negotiations between Barber and the BNDD.

Audit Findings

7. Barber’s receipt records for the following controlled substances ordered for his Kirksville practice location did not include his DEA registration number or the supplier’s registration number:

05-21-02
fentanyl
.05 mg
3x10x2 ml amp


05-31-02
midazolam
5 mg/ml
25x1ml amp
8. Fentanyl is a Schedule II controlled substance.
 
9. Midazolam is a Schedule IV controlled substance.

10. Barber’s receipt records for the following controlled substances ordered for his Columbia practice location did not include his DEA registration number or the supplier’s registration number and did not consistently include the drug strength:

02-04-02
diazepam
5 mg
200 tabs


02-13-02
hydrocodone/apap
5/500 mg
1,000 tabs

02-13-02
diazepam

2 x 25 x 2ml amp

11. Diazepam is a Schedule IV controlled substances.
  
12. Combination drugs containing hydrocodone and an active non-narcotic ingredient are Schedule III controlled substances.
 
13. Barber ordered controlled substances from Kilgore Pharmacy in Columbia to be used as office stock at his Kirksville office.  An employee from Barber’s Columbia location picked up the drugs at the pharmacy and took them to his Columbia office where they were stored until Barber picked them up and transported them to his Kirksville office on a later date.  Barber did not maintain records for the transfer of these controlled substances from one registered location to another.
14. Barber transferred controlled substance drugs back and forth between the Kirksville location and the Columbia location.  Controlled substance transfer records did not include the drug strength dosage form, name, address, and registration number of the transferring registrant and the name, address, and registration number of the receiving registrant.
15. Barber’s controlled substance purchasing, receipt, dispensing and administration records and controlled substance stock at the Columbia location were combined with those of another registrant’s who practiced dentistry at the same office.
16. Barber’s controlled substance administration records for the Kirksville location did not include patient addresses or the drug strength.
17. Barber’s controlled substance administration records for the Columbia location did not include the strength of the controlled drugs administered.
18. Barber self-administered Tylox in the absence of a medical emergency from his controlled substance stock at the Kirksville location as follows:

4 tablets on December 20, 2001
6 tablets on May 15, 2002


2 tablets on May 28, 2002
4 tablets on June 30, 2002
19. Tylox is a brand name for a combination drug containing 5 mg oxycodone and 500 mg acetaminophen.  Oxycodone is a Schedule II controlled substance.

20. Barber’s controlled substance dispensing records for the Kirksville location did not include the patients’ addresses and the initials of the person dispensing the drugs.
21. Barber’s controlled substance dispensing records for the Columbia location did not include the drug name, drug strength, the initials of the person dispensing the drugs, or the doctor’s signature.
22. Controlled substances were dispensed in containers that did not consistently reveal the name and address of the dispensing practitioner from the Kirksville location.
23. Diazepam was dispensed to patients from the Kirksville location in envelopes that did not bear a label warning against the transfer of the drug to any person other than the patient.
24. Barber did not use FDA-approved containers when dispensing diazepam in envelopes.
25. Barber did not maintain controlled substance records for the chloral hydrate he purchased and stocked for use at the Kirksville location.
26. Chloral hydrate is a Schedule IV controlled substance.

27. The BNDD’s audit of selected controlled substances at the Kirksville location revealed the following discrepancies:

Diazepam l0mg/2ml
129 mls

Midazolam 5 mg/ml
+78 mls

Tylox 5/500mg
8 tablets

Apap/codeine 300/30        665 tablets

Chloral hydrate
223 mls
28. Combination drugs containing less than 90 mg of codeine and an active non-narcotic ingredient per dosage unit are Schedule III controlled substances.

29. The BNDD’s audit of selected controlled substances at the Columbia location revealed the following discrepancies:

Apap/codeine 300/30 mg
202 tablets

Roxilox 5/500mg
16 tablets

Diazepam 5 mg
72 tablets

T-Hydrocodone/apap 5/500 mg
240 tablets
30. Roxilox is a brand name for a combination drug containing 5 mg oxycodone, a controlled substance.
31. Barber experienced an undetected shortage of 240 dosage units of drugs containing hydrocodone in less than seven months at the Columbia location.
32. An audit of selected controlled substances conducted on July 24, 2002, at the Kirksville location revealed the following controlled substance drug losses:

Diazepam
10 mg/2ml vial
129 mls


Apap/codeine
300/30 mg tablets
665 tablets


Tylox
5/500 mg capsules
8 capsules


Chloral hydrate
500 mg/5 ml
223 mls

33. On August 20, 2002, the BNDD received a Report of Loss or Theft of Controlled Substances or Chemicals reporting the controlled substance drug losses discovered at the Kirksville location during the BNDD’s July 24, 2002 audit.  This was more than seven days after the discovery of the controlled substance losses.
34. An audit of selected controlled substances conducted on August 13, 2002, at the Columbia location revealed the following controlled substance drug losses:

Diazepam
5 mg/ml vial
6 x 2 ml vials


Fentanyl citrate
0.5 mg/ml vial
17 x 2 ml vials


Midazolam
5 mg/ml vial
7 x 1 ml vial


Apap/codeine
300/30mg tablets
202 tablets


Roxilox
5/500 tablets
16 tablets


Diazepam
5 mg tablets
72 tablets


Hydrocodone/apap
5/500 mg tablets
240 tablets
35. On September 10, 2002, the BNDD received a Report of Loss or Theft of Controlled Substances or Chemicals form reporting the controlled substance drug losses discovered at the Columbia location during the BNDD’s August 13, 2002, audit.  This was more than seven days after discovery of the controlled substance losses.
36. On January 12, 2004, Barber signed a settlement agreement with the BNDD.  In the settlement agreement, Barber and the BNDD stipulated that there were certain violations of Chapter 195 and regulations.  “The violations were relating to recordkeeping requirements and security requirements for securing and being accountable for controlled substances.”
 
37. Under the settlement agreement, Barber’s BNDD registra​tion was probated for three years, and Barber was under certain restrictions outlined in the agreement.
38. After the settlement agreement, the BNDD revisited the practices and found violations, resulting in a follow-up letter of censure.
  The BNDD looked into the post-settlement agreement violations and decided not to revoke Barber’s registration, place further restrictions on him, or extend the period of his probation.  Instead it issued the letter of censure.
39. On approximately January 12, 2004, the BNDD provided the DEA and the Board copies of the settlement agreement.
40. On November 18, 2004, Barber submitted his application to the BNDD to renew his Missouri controlled substance registration, and the application was renewed.  There have not been any problems with respect to the handling of controlled substances since the renewal.
41. In 2004, Michael Boeger, Assistant Administrator of the BNDD, suggested to Barber’s counsel that Barber get some training and education and retain Mr. Wilson Winch, RPh, a practice consultant, to help the ProDental office prepare policies and proce​dures for handling controlled substances and get them on the right track.
42. On October 12, 2004, Barber hired Winch to develop policies and procedures for handling controlled substances at ProDental and train its employees. 
43. Winch developed a set of policies and procedures specifically for ProDental to address the record keeping matters that had been raised by the BNDD.  Barber also engaged Winch to provide training for his entire staff in both the Columbia and Kirksville locations.
44. Both the policies and procedures and the training syllabus were submitted to the BNDD for its review.
45. After the procedures had been developed and the training was over, Barber had ProDental retain Winch to do on-site monitoring of ProDen​tal’s stocking, administration, and/or dispensing of controlled substances every six months.
46. Neither the Board nor the BNDD had required Barber to engage a consultant to develop policies and procedures or do any training or to do any monitoring; those things were done under the leadership of Barber.
47. Beginning in March 2005, Winch conducted on-site monitor​ing reviews of ProDental on a quarterly basis.  Barber asked Winch to send ProDental a copy of each monitoring report, and Barber made those reports a part of the ProDental records to show compliance.  Every quarterly review was documented in writing and provided to Barber.  Each review found that Barber and ProDental were in compliance.
48. Barber’s three-year suspension ended on January 12, 2007, and he has a current BNDD registration.  At the time of the hearing, Barber had filed an application to renew the 
registration.  On the application, Barber did not understand a question about prior violations and he did not disclose the settlement agreement or this complaint because Barber misread the form and thought he need only disclose matters about which the BNDD had no knowledge and which were pending.  The application was subsequently corrected.
Count II – Scaling
49. In an interview, Barber told Mark Dudenhoeffer, an investigator with the Board, that: (a) Barber allowed dental assistants to scale teeth above the gum line but did not allow them to do it below the gum line, and (b) that he allowed assistants to use a Cavitron and a Prophy-Jet.
50. A Prophy-Jet is an air device used to polish the coronal portions of teeth.  With respect to assistants using a “Cavitron,” Barber only allowed dental assistants to use a Cavitron to clean off a crown while the crown was outside of the mouth.
51. With respect to scaling, Barber made a distinction between “deep scaling” under the gum line and scaling that simply consisted of polishing the coronal portions of teeth.  Deep scaling means cleaning in some fashion the structures that are under the gum line.  Other scal​ing would be removing cement and polishing the coronal portions of teeth.  Dental assistants were never permitted to do “deep scaling.”
52. When Barber talked to Dudenhoeffer about dental assistants doing “scaling,” he was referring to the activity of “polishing the coronal portions of teeth.”  Dental assistants were permitted to do this.
Count III – Remove Sutures and Stitches
53. Barber told Dudenhoeffer that he allowed dental assistants to remove sutures and stitches on an emergency basis when a dentist was not available within an appropriate amount of time.
54. When the dental assistants removed sutures or stitches, there was always a dentist in the office.

Count IV - Sedation
55. Enteral conscious sedation is sedation that is achieved by administration of a sedative agent to the digestive tract.  The most common method of administration of a pill is by mouth.  It is also called “stacking pills.”

56. Parenteral conscious sedation is sedation that is achieved by a sedative agent being introduced directly into the bloodstream.  The most common method of administration is through an IV (also called IV sedation).
57. General anesthesia or deep sedation is a deeper level of sedation in which the patient lacks the protective reflexes and is unable to maintain an independent airway.  General anesthesia is not differentiated by the method of administration, but by the level of sedation.
58. Most oral surgeons have a general anesthesia permit, but most dentists do not.
59. Between 1997 and June 2006, Barber performed parenteral conscious sedation on patients at both the Columbia and Kirksville locations.
60. In an inter​view, Barber told Dudenhoeffer:  “that [Barber] felt that he only had one patient at a time under sedation, but that he would normally run saline solution prior to and after a sedation procedure.  So he would sometimes have multiple patients in some part of that cycle, either before, during or after a sedation.”

61. Patients who were consciously sedated were always monitored under the direct and continuous supervision of sedation team members.  There were always three individuals (the dentist and members of the sedation team) available to support a sedated patient.
62. Barber always made the determination of when a patient was ready and able to be discharged.
63. Barber ran saline solution through an IV before and after the sedation process.  Saline solution is like salt water and is not a controlled sub​stance or a sedation agent.  
64. Barber might have more than one patient with a saline solution dripping into an IV at the same time.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Barber has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  This Commission must judge the credibility of witnesses, and we have the discretion to believe all, part, or none of the testimony of any witness.
  When there is a direct conflict in the testimony, we must make a choice between the conflicting testimony.

I.  Witness Bias


The Board’s complaint began with a complaint written by Barber’s former employee, Ria Golden, that she filed with the Board relating to improper dele​gation and some conscious sedation issues.  As a result of Ms. Golden’s complaint, the Board performed an investigation.  Barber argues that Golden was a disgruntled employee, that she was biased, and that her credibility was in question.

Golden did not testify at the hearing.  If she had, Barber could make an argument that bias affected her credibility.  But, as the complainant, any potential bias that Golden may have is 
irrelevant to this proceeding.
  We make the decision as to whether there is cause for discipline.  We are not bound by what the Board did, and it is irrelevant why the Board acted or why someone filed an initial complaint.  The parties start over again by presenting evidence to this Commission as to whether there is cause for discipline.

II.  Cause for Discipline


The Board argues that there is cause for discipline under § 332.321:
2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:
*   *   *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of, or relating to one’s ability to perform, the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;
(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;
*   *   *
(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;

*   *   *
(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules or regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]
A.  Count I
Violation of Statutes and Regulations – Subdivisions (6) and (15)

The Board argues that Barber violated statutes and regulations, including drug laws, as set forth in the settlement agreement with the BNDD.  Barber argues that he only signed the settlement agreement because it was better to concentrate on the future.  But the settlement agreement is in evidence without objection.  Even if the signed settlement agreement is not considered an admission, where no objection is made, hearsay evidence in the record can and must be considered in administrative hearings.
  The Board provided evidence of the conduct at issue before the BNDD – evidence that Barber did not refute.


Barber also argues that the Board should not take action against his license because the BNDD already did so with regard to his BNDD registration.  Nothing prohibits the Board from taking action because the BNDD already did so, and nothing requires the Board to issue the same level of discipline.

The Board argues that Barber violated the following statutes and regulations.  Section 195.050.6, RSMo 2000, states:

Every person registered to manufacture, distribute or dispense controlled substances under sections 195.005 to 195.425 shall keep records and inventories of all such drugs in conformance with the record keeping and inventory requirements of federal law, and in accordance with any additional regulations of the department of health.
Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.048 states:

(1) Each individual practitioner, institutional practitioner and pharmacy shall maintain records with the following information for each controlled substance received, main​tained, dispensed or disposed:
(A) The name of the substance;
(B) Each finished form (for example, ten milligram (10 mg) tablet or ten milligram (10 mg) concentration per fluid ounce or milliliter) and the number of units or volume of finished form in each commercial contain​er (for example, 100 tablet bottle or three milliliter (3 ml) vial);
(C) The number of commercial containers of each finished form received from other persons, including the date of and number of containers in each receipt and the name, address and registration number of the person from whom the containers were received;
(D) The number of units or volume of the finished form dispensed including the name and address of the person to whom it was dis​pensed, the date of dispensing, the number of units or volume dispensed and the written or typewritten name or initials of the individual who dispensed or administered the substance;
(E) The number of units or volume of the finished forms, commercial containers, or both, disposed of in any other manner by the registrant, including the date and manner of disposal and the quantity of the substance in finished form disposed.
(2) Each individual practitioner shall main​tain a record of the date, full name and address of the patient, the drug name, strength, dosage form and quantity for all controlled substances prescribed or adminis​tered.  This record may be maintained in the patient’s medical record.  When the controlled substance record is maintained in the patient’s medical record and the practitioner is not the custodian of the medical record, the practitioner shall make the controlled sub​stance record available as required in 19 CSR 30-1.041 and 19 CSR 30-1.044.

*   *   *

(4) A registrant who transfers a controlled substance to or receives a controlled sub​stance from another registrant shall maintain a written record of the transfer which con​tains the following information:  the date of transfer, drug name, strength, dosage form, quantity, name, address and registration num​ber of the transferring registrant and the name, address and registration number of the receiving registrant.

Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.044 states:
(1) Every registrant required to keep records shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported or otherwise disposed of by him/her.

(2) Separate records shall be maintained by a registrant for each registered location except as provided in 19 CSR 30-1.041(2).  In the event controlled substances are in the possession or under the control of a registrant at a location for which s/he is not registered, the substance shall be included in the records of the registered location to which they are subject to control or to which the person possessing the substance is responsible.

Section 195.070.4 states:

An individual practitioner may not prescribe or dispense a controlled substance for such practitioner’s personal use except in a medical emergency.

Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.066 states:

(1) An individual practitioner who dispenses controlled substances shall—
(A) Provide direct supervision to employ​ees or agents who assist in the administering or dispensing of controlled substances.  Con​trolled substances shall not be dispensed from an individual practitioner’s inventory unless a practitioner is physically in the registered location except pursuant to the provisions of section (2) of this rule;
(B) Package all controlled substances dis​pensed from an individual practitioner’s inventory in compliance with the Poison Pre​vention Packaging Act of 1970, 15 U.S.C. 1471—1476;
(C) Permanently affix a label to the exteri​or of the drug container which includes:  the date, the name and address of the dispensing practitioner, the name of the patient, direc​tions for use, and the exact name and strength of the drug dispensed for all controlled sub​stances dispensed;
(D) Dispense only to individuals with whom the practitioner has established and documented a practitioner/patient relation​ship.  An individual practitioner shall not dis​pense under the order of another practitioner not practicing at that location.

Section 195.100, RSMo 2000, states:

3.  The label of a controlled substance in Schedule II, III or IV shall, when dispensed to or for a patient, contain a clear, concise warning that it is a criminal offense to transfer such narcotic or dangerous drug to any person other than the patient.

*   *   *

5.  Whenever a pharmacist or practitioner sells or dispenses any controlled substance on a prescription issued by a physician, dentist, podiatrist or veterinarian, he shall affix to the container in which such drug is sold or dispensed, a label showing his own name and address of the pharmacy or practitioner for whom he is lawfully acting; the name of the patient . . . ; the name of the physician, dentist, podiatrist or veterinarian by whom the prescription was written; and such directions as may be stated on the prescription.  No person shall alter, deface, or remove any label so affixed.
Regulation 19 CSR 30-1.032 states:

(3) The registrant shall notify the Department of Health and Senior Services of any theft or significant loss of any controlled substances upon discovery of this theft or loss.
(A) The registrant shall complete and submit a Report of Loss, Theft or Diversion of Controlled Substances or Regulated Chemicals to the Department of Health and Senior Services no later than seven (7) business days after the discovery of such a loss. . . .


Barber’s receipt records for controlled substances ordered for his Kirksville practice location did not include his DEA registration number or the supplier’s registration number in violation of § 195.050.6 and 19 CSR 30-1.048.


Barber did not maintain records for the transfer of controlled substances from one registered location to another in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.044(1) and (2) and 19 CSR 30-1.048(4).  Controlled substance transfer records did not include the drug strength dosage form, name, address, and registration number of the transferring registrant and the name, address, and registration number of the receiving registrant in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(4).

Barber’s controlled substance purchasing, receipt, dispensing and administration records and controlled substance stock at the Columbia location were combined with those of another registrant who practiced dentistry at the same office in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(1).


Barber’s controlled substance administration records for the Kirksville location did not include the patients’ addresses and the strength of the controlled drugs administered in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(2).

Barber’s controlled substance administration records for the Columbia location did not include the strength of the controlled drugs administered in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(2).


Barber self-administered Tylox in the absence of a medical emergency from his controlled substance stock at the Kirksville location in violation of § 195.070.4.

Barber’s controlled substance dispensing records for the Kirksville location did not include the patients’ addresses and the initials of the person dispensing the drugs in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(1).


Barber’s controlled substance dispensing records for the Columbia location did not include the drug name, drug strength, the initials of the person dispensing the drugs, or the doctor’s signature in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.048(1).


Controlled substances were dispensed in containers that did not consistently reveal the name and address of the dispensing practitioner from the Kirksville location in violation of 
19 CSR 30-1.048(1) and 19 CSR 30-l.066(1)(B).


Diazepam was dispensed to patients from the Kirksville location in envelopes that did not bear a label warning against the transfer of the drug to any person other than the patient in violation of § 195.l00.3, § 195.100.5 and 19 CSR 30-1.066(1).  Barber did not use FDA- approved containers when dispensing diazepam in envelopes in violation of § 195.100.3, 
§ 195.100.5 and 19 CSR 30-1.066(1).


Barber did not maintain controlled substance records for the chloral hydrate he purchased and stocked for use at the Kirksville location in violation of § 195.050.6.

On August 20, 2002, the BNDD received a Report of Loss or Theft of Controlled Substances or Chemicals reporting the controlled substance drug losses discovered during the Kirksville location audit.  This was more than seven days after the discovery of the controlled substance losses in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.032(3)(A).


On September 10, 2002, the BNDD received a Report of Loss or Theft of Controlled Substances or Chemicals form reporting the controlled substance drug losses discovered during the Columbia location audit.  This was more than seven days after discovery of the controlled substance losses in violation of 19 CSR 30-1.032(3)(A).

Section 332.361, RSMo 2000, states:

2.  Any duly registered and currently licensed dentist in Missouri may possess, have under his control, prescribe, administer, dispense, or distribute a “controlled substance” as that term is defined in section 195.010, RSMo, only to the extent that:

(1) The dentist possesses the requisite valid federal and state registration to distribute or dispense that class of controlled substance;
(2) The dentist prescribes, administers, dispenses, or distributes the controlled substance in the course of his professional practice of dentistry, and for no other reason;
(3) A bona fide dentist-patient relationship exists; and
(4) The dentist possesses, has under his control, prescribes, administers, dispenses, or distributes the controlled substance in accord with all pertinent requirements of the federal and Missouri narcotic drug and controlled substances acts, including the keeping of records and inventories when required therein.

Barber violated the above referenced statutes and regulations.  He also violated 
§ 332.361.2(4), RSMo 2000.  He is subject to discipline under § 332.321.2(6) and (15).
Incompetence/Gross Negligence – Subdivision (5)

When referring to an occupation, incompetence relates to the failure to use “the actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”
  It also refers to a general lack of, or a lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.
  Misconduct is “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  Gross negligence is a deviation from professional standards so egregious that it demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty.


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.


We may infer the requisite mental state from the conduct of the licensee “in light of all surrounding circumstances.”
  We believe that the record keeping and labeling errors were unintentional mistakes.  Barber believed that the self-administered injections were for emergency situations.  We find cause for discipline for incompetence and gross negligence only.  
Violation of Professional Trust – Subdivision (13)


Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  

The many record keeping and labeling errors of controlled substances constitute a violation of professional trust between Barber and his patients.  There is cause for discipline under § 332.321.2(13).

B.  Count II


Count II of the complaint charges that Barber allowed dental assis​tants to scale and root-plane teeth and perform periodontal probing.  In its complaint, the Board cites the following statutes.  Section 332.093, RSMo 2000, states:
Any person “practices as a dental assistant” within the meaning of this chapter who provides patient services in cooperation with and under the direct supervision of a currently registered and licensed dentist in Missouri.  A currently registered and licensed dentist may delegate to a dental assistant, certified dental assistant or expanded functions dental assistant, under their direct supervision, such reversible acts that would be considered the practice of dentistry as defined in section 332.071 provided such delegation is done pursuant to the terms and conditions of a rule adopted by the Missouri dental board pursuant to section 332.031; except that, no such rule may allow delegation of acts that conflict with the practice of dental hygiene as defined in section 332.091, with the exception that polishing of teeth may be delegated to a dental assistant, certified dental assistant or expanded-functions dental assistant.

Section 332.091, RSMo 2000, states:

Any person “practices as a dental hygienist” within the meaning of this chapter who, under the supervision of a currently registered and licensed dentist, undertakes to or does remove hard and soft deposits from teeth, polishes natural and restored surfaces of teeth, polishes restorations of teeth, performs clinical examinations of teeth and surrounding tissues for diagnosis by a currently

licensed and registered dentist, and who performs such other procedures as may be delegated by the supervising dentist under the degree of supervision set by and in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the board.

The only evidence offered by the Board on Count II was that Barber, in an interview, told Dudenhoeffer that: (a) Barber allowed dental assistants to scale teeth above the gum line but did 
not allow them to do it below the gum line, and (b) he allowed assistants to use a Cavitron and a Prophy-Jet. 

The Board failed to provide us with definitions of the procedures it alleges Barber incorrectly delegated.  Dudenhoeffer was not a dentist and was not an expert on what did and did not constitute scaling.  We received his testimony with the understanding that he was not testifying as an expert and that we could assign it the proper weight in terms of credibility.  The Board offered no expert testimony and cited no law that defines these terms.  Therefore, we are left with Barber’s testimony and a dictionary definition of scaling:  “In dentistry, removal of accretions from the crowns and roots of teeth by use of special instruments.”
 

With respect to scaling, Barber made a distinction between “deep scaling” under the gum line and scaling that simply consisted of polishing the coronal portions of the teeth.  Deep scaling means cleaning in some fashion the structures that are under the gum line.  Other scal​ing would be removing cement and polishing the coronal portions of teeth.
  Dental assistants were never permitted to do “deep scaling.  When Barber talked to Dudenhoeffer about dental assistants doing “scaling,” he was referring to the activity of polishing the coronal portions of teeth.  Dental assistants were permitted to do this.

We accept Barber’s explanation as to why he thought both activities were called scaling – that the Board’s regulations had previously classified both as scaling, but with an exception that dental assistants could polish the coronal portions of teeth.  The current rules do not list the polishing as a type of scaling, but instead as something that dental assistants are allowed to do.  Therefore, Barber did not admit that he allowed his dental assistants to do anything prohibited.

With respect to using a Prophy-Jet, Barber testified that a Prophy-Jet is an air device used to polish the coronal portions of teeth.  Polishing the coronal portions of teeth with an air polisher is a permitted activity for assistants.
  With respect to assistants using a “Cavitron,” he only allowed the dental assistants to use a Cavitron to clean off a crown while the crown was outside of the mouth.  The Board cites no statute or rule in its complaint that would prohibit this.


The Board failed in its burden of proving that Barber allowed dental assis​tants to improperly scale and root-plane teeth and perform periodontal probing.  There is no cause for discipline under Count II.
C.  Count III


Count III of the complaint charges that Barber allowed dental assistants to place fillings, remove sutures and stitches, perform laser whitening, perform post-​operative checkups, and make adjustments to dentures without the dental assistant being directly supervised.  In its complaint, the Board cites the following regulation and statute.  Regulation 20 CSR 2110-2.120 states:

(1) Definitions.

*   *   *

(D) Direct supervision- the following conditions must be satisfied for direct supervision to apply:
1.  The dentist is in the dental office or treatment facility;
2.  The dentist has personally diagnosed the condition to be treated;
3.  The dentist has personally authorized the procedures;
4.  The dentist remains in the dental office or treatment facility while the procedures are being performed by the dental auxiliary; and
5.  The dentist evaluates the performance of the dental auxiliary before the dismissal of the patient.

Section 332.093 states:

Any person “practices as a dental assistant” within the meaning of this chapter who provides patient services in cooperation with and under the direct supervision of a currently registered and licensed dentist in Missouri. A currently registered and licensed dentist may delegate to a dental assistant, certified dental assistant or expanded functions dental assistant, under their direct supervision, such reversible acts that would be considered the practice of dentistry as defined in section 332.071 provided such delegation is done pursuant to the terms and conditions of a rule adopted by the Missouri dental board pursuant to section 332.031; except that, no such rule may allow delegation of acts that conflict with the practice of dental hygiene as defined in section 332.091, with the exception that polishing of teeth may be delegated to a dental assistant, certified dental assistant or expanded-functions dental assistant.

The only evidence offered by Board on Count III was that Barber, in an interview, told Dudenhoeffer that he allowed dental assistants to remove sutures and stitches on an emergency basis when a dentist was not available within an appropriate amount of time.  Dudenhoeffer stated that it was his “understanding” that removing a stitch or suture was not something that could be delegated, but admitted that he could not remember a Board rule that prohibited this.

Barber testified that there is no prohibi​tion against a dental assistant removing a suture and that a dentist would always be in the office and directly supervising the assistant when that was being done.  The Board cites no such statute or regulation in its complaint.

The Board failed in its burden of proving that Barber allowed dental assistants to place fillings, remove sutures and stitches, perform laser whitening, perform post-​operative checkups, and make adjustments to dentures without the dental assistant being directly supervised.  There is no cause for discipline on Count III.

D.  Count IV


The Board argues that Barber (i) repeatedly sedated one patient at a time without another properly permitted dentist available to sedate patient, (ii) repeatedly left the dental office at the Kirksville location when one or more patients were sedated, and (iii) on at least one occasion in 2000, left his office prior to discharging a sedated patient.  In its complaint, the Board cites the following regulation.  Regulation 20 CSR 2110-4.030 states:
(8) Discharge Assessment and Procedures.

(A) The final responsibility for determining whether a patient is appropriately responsive and stable for discharge rests solely with the dentist.  This may be done in consultation with a nurse anesthetist or an anesthesiologist.
*   *   *

(9) Personnel.

(A) The minimum number of individuals available to support a sedated patient shall be three (3): the dentist and two (2) members of the sedation team, which may include a nurse anesthetist or an anesthesiologist.


The only evidence that the Board offered on Count IV was that in an inter​view Barber told Dudenhoeffer “that he felt he only had one patient at a time under sedation, but that he would normally run saline solution prior to and after a sedation procedure.  So he would sometimes have multiple patients in some part of that cycle, either before, during or after a sedation.”


Barber testified that patients who were consciously sedated were always monitored under the direct and continuous supervision of sedation team members.  There were always three individuals (the dentist and members of the sedation team) available to support a sedated patient.   
Barber testified that he always made the determination of when a patient was ready and able to be discharged.  Barber admitted that he might have had more than one patient with a saline solution dripping into an IV at the same time.  Barber ran saline solution through an IV before and after the sedation process.

Dudenhorffer testified that saline solution is not a drug or sedation agent that is governed by the conscious sedation rules.  He admitted that under the rules, it was not a violation for a dentist with a parenteral sedation permit to have two separate patients each with an IV in their arm running saline solution at the same time.  The Board cites no such rule or statute.  The Board failed in its burden of proving that there is cause for discipline on Count IV.
Summary


There is cause for discipline under § 332.321.2(5), (6), (13), and (15) on Count I.  There is no cause for discipline on Counts II, III, or IV.

SO ORDERED on June 3, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.
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